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Those who are convinced that soul does not die but only leaves the
old body and establishes into a new one, have no attachment to the
worldly material, body and mind. In their mind, it never arises to collect
and store the worldly material and wealth. They think the body to be a
wagon to carry the soul in this world from one place to another. They
never abandon their faith and belief to save the wagon because they never

forget that this body is bound to be destroyed and one day it will become
dust.

Bed Time Stories-4 contains twenty-one anecdotes about Guru Tegh
Bahadur who toured India twice. In those tours he held congregations
in villages and cities to preach the astray people that to oppress the poor
is a sin. He awoke those who were enduring tyranny to unite and fight
the tyrants to end their sufferings and troubles.

The result of martyrdom of Guru Tegh Bahadur was clear when
Aurangzeb dropped the idea to convert all Hindus of India to Islam by
force. The outcome of his preaching was evident when on 30th March,
1699 A.D. at Anandpur, his son Guru Gobind Singh came in the morning
congregation of about eighty thousands with unsheathed sword in his
right hand and asked for five heads in the name of faith. In response
to his demand, five Sikhs offered themselves. Those were the Sikhs from
all over India i.e. Punjab, Delhi, Gujrat, Orrisa and Andhra Pradesh. Guru
Tegh Bahadur did not save only the Hindu religion from extinction but

also still reminds the believers of all faiths that faith is more precious
than head.

I am greatly thankful to Dr. Chan for writing the foreword of Bed Time
Stories-4 and K.P. Singh Brar for helping me to translate the manuscript.

I am highly obliged to Gurdwara Council B'HAM, Guru Ramdas

Gurdwara and Dr. Joginder Singh J.P. to give their views about my
writing.

I am thankful to Artist Kashmira Singh for producing the matching

illustration and cover design and Singh Brothers and his staff with whose
co-operation this book is in your hands in this beautiful form.

S.S. Jagdev
160-Formans Rd.. Spark Hill,

Birmingham B11 3 BD. England.
25-9-93 Tel. 021-777-6371



Review

In this atomic age, children cannot be led blindly to follow what they
do not comprehend. They do not adopt in life, the teachings, they do not
understand. The teaching of Guru Nanak is in tune with the present and
can stand the tests of science. This is not meant only for the people of
Punjab or the Sikhs alone but is beneficial for all the people of the world
irrespective of their religious belief or the country they belong to.

Bed Time Stories written by Santokh Singh Jagdev in two languages
have been quite successful in conveying the message of Guru Nanak to
the Western World which includes our children also, because in these
books Mr. Jagdev has tried to narrate in easy Panjabi and English, the
happenings from the lives of the Sikh Gurus. By giving sketches alongwith
the stories, he has endeavoured to explain the subject in a nice way.

Bed Time Stories-1 and 2 were immensely liked by the children.
Parents often mention that their children do not go to sleep unless they
have read a story or have got someone to read it for them. It has been
a pleasure to have gone through the manuscripts of Bed Time Stories-
3 and 4. It is hoped that the children will also like them because these
contain the happenings in the lives of Guru Arjan Dev and Guru Tegh
Bahadur who showed the true path of life by sacrificing themselves and
became the defenders of freedom in faith. |

The Council of Sikh Gurdwaras in Birmingham is highly obliged to
the writer Santokh Singh Jagdev who has made his mind to convey to
the children the happenings from the lives of the great Gurus in two
languages. We pray to God to grant him success in his mission to make
the children aware of the teachings of the Gurus by publishing the
incidents from the lives of other Gurus also.

Piara Singh Jheeta

23-6-93 Chairman,
The Council of Sikh Gurdwaras,
Birmingham.



An Appreciation
Sardar Jagdev Ji,

I have read the manuscripts of "Bed Time Stories-3 and 4", which
describe the lives of Guru Arjan Dev Ji and Guru Tegh Bahadur Ji.

You have not only worked hard but also have done a lot of research
to produce the stories in English as well as in Punjabi with wonderful
illustrations under one cover.

As English culture is different from Punjabi culture, so are the English
and Punjabi languages. Without the actual sense of the words used by
the Sikh Gurus, one cannot understand Sikh Philosophy.

"Bed Time Stories" series is not only useful but that also is an accurate
attempt in fulfilling that gap.

It is also pertinent to mention here that the "Bed Time Stories-1 and
2" published previously have been a great success and been most
welcomed by all the communities.

We highly recommend these books to those who want to learn or teach
"Sikhism and Sikh Philosophy".

Ram Singh

General Secretary,

Gurdwara Guru Ramdas Singh Sabha.
Birmingham. England.
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Bravery in Childhood

Guru Tegh Bahadur was born on Ist April, 1621 A.D. at Amritsar. His
father was Guru Hargobind and mother Nanaki. He was named Tyag Mall
at the time of his birth. He gained knowledge of scriptures from Bhai
Gurdas. He was sent to live with Baba Budha at Ramdas farm for some
time so that he may learn the significance attached in the Sikh faith to
the work with own hands. In spite of old age, Baba Budha worked in the
farm with his own hands. Bhai Jetha imparted him weapon training.

Guru Tegh Bahadur was very calm by nature. Baba Budha left this
world in November 1631 A.D. and Bhai Gurdas also attained union with
God shortly afterwards. With their departure, he started living in
detachment still more. He was married to Bibi Gujri at Kartarpur in
March 1632 A.D.

Vaisakhi congregation of 1632 A.D. was held at Kartarpur. Painde
Khan, taking Kale Khan with him, attacked Kartarpur. Guru Hargobind
came out with his devotees to face him in the battlefield. The people of the
city, who could not take part in the battle climbed up the house tops.
(Guru) Tegh Bahadur was only thirteen at that time. He donned his
weapons and joined the battle of faith. Mother Nanaki saw him fighting
from the roof of the house. When he went on fighting for a long time, the
mother sent a message, "Son ! You have fought for quite a long time. Come
back now. You may return after some rest." He sent back the word, "Dear
Mother! It is a sin to leave the battlefield while the fighting is in progress.
As such I am unable to obey your command. I may be pardoned." After
the death of Painde Khan and Kale Khan in the battlefield, the royal army
was defeated and retreated to where it had come from.

After the retreat of the army, Guru Hargobind started towards Kiratpur.
At village Palahi near Phagwara, the royal army again attacked from the
rear. (Guru) Tegh Bahadur excelled in wielding his sword in that battle too.
Guru Hargobind was very pleased on seeing his bravery. The royal army
bit the dust in this attack also. After the battle, Guru Hargobind called
(Guru) Tegh Bahadur to him and said, "Son ! From this day your name
is Tegh Bahadur and not Tyag Mall. You are an accomplished swordsman."
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Found the Guru

Guru Hargobind, before his union with the Supreme Being on 3rd March,
1644 A.D., entrusted the leadership of the Sikhs to his grandson, Har Rai
and commanded (Guru) Tegh Bahadur to go from Kiratpur to village Bakala.
In accordance with the commands of his father, (Guru) Tegh Bahadur went
to Bakala along with mother Nanaki and revered Gujri. Bakala was the village
of his maternal grand parents.

Guru Har Krishan—the eighth Guru told the devotees before his soul
became one with the Eternal Light on 30th March; 1664 A.D., "Guru Baba
at Bakala." His words meant that the next Guru to lead the Sikhs was at
Bakala and was his grand father. When the Sodhis (blood relatives of Guru
Har Krishan) came to know of these words, many of them reached Bakala
with the intention of becoming guru. The Sikhs were at a loss to know as
to who the real Guru was. Makhan Shah, a trader, came to Bakala on
9th October, 1664 A.D. to offer his tithe to the Guru's institution. Seeing
so many gurus he understood that there was only one true Guru and the
rest were impostors. Thinking that the trueGuruwill ask for his tithe himself,
he began paying two gold coins as obeisance to each Sodhi, imposing as guru.
When none calling himself a guru asked for his tithe, he asked the people

of Bakala, "Is there any other Sodhi here ?" They told him about (Guru)
Tegh Bahadur.

As directed by the residents, Makhan Shah reached the house of (Guru)
Tegh Bahadur. He paid obeisance by placing two gold coins before him. On
seeing two gold coins (Guru) Tegh Bahadur said. "Brother Sikh ! Two coins
will not do here. You shall have to offer full tithe of the Guru's institution
here.” Having said this. the Guru uncovered his shoulder which bore scars
of wounds. He showed it to Makhan Shah and told him, "These scars relate
to the time when your ship got stuck near the port of Surat. You then prayed
to the Guru to take your ship to the port. Listening to your prayer, I had
pushed your ship ahead with this shoulder.”

When Makhan Shah saw the scars of wounds on the shoulder of Guru
Tegh Bahadur, he offered his tithe to him and ascending the roof of his house,
he began to shout, "I have found the Guru. I have found the Guru.” Hearing
the call of Makhan Shah, the Sikh devotees began to gather at the house
of Guru Tegh Bahadur. Makhan Shah narrated to the congregation all that
had happened to him by which all the devotees were convinced of Guru Tegh
Bahadur being the true Guru. Others imposing as gurus were greatly pained
to know about the revelation of the true Guru because the Sikhs would stop
giving offerings to those impostors.
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Attack by Dhir Mall

Dhir Mall, the elder son of Baba Gurditta—elder brother of Guru Tegh
Bahadur, had set up a camp at village Bakala in the hope of becoming guru.
When it was known to all that Guru Tegh Bahadur was the real Guru, Sikh
devotees presented themselves with offerings of money and other presents.
Dhir Mall could not bear it. He hatched a conspiracy with his Masand Shihan
(who used to collect offerings from Sikhs on Guru's behalf) and other greedy
persons that after the departure of Makhan Shah to his camp, the house of
Guru Tegh Bahadur be looted and he be killed because it was not possible
to take over the leadership of the Sikhs while he was alive.”

On receiving information about the departure of Makhan Shah to his camp,
Dhir Mall along with Shihan Masand and twenty-five gunmen, reached the
house of Guru Tegh Bahadur. Taking aim at Guru Tegh Bahadur, Shihan
Masand fired a shot. The bullet, touching the forehead of Guru Tegh Bahadur
passed onwards. The forehead was smeared with blood. By the time Dhir Mall
came near Guru Tegh Bahadur, Mother Nanaki also reached there. She said
to Dhir Mall, "You should have convinced the devotees to follow you if you
had ability. This violence of your's cannot do any good to you.” Dhir Mall was
greatly annoyed on hearing these insulting words from Mother Nanaki. While
returning, he looted and took away valuables from the Guru's institution.

Hearing gun shots, Makhan Shah reached the Guru's institution with his
men. Mother Nanaki told him how Dhir Mall had come with gunmen to kill
the Guru and had gone back after wounding Guru Tegh Bahadur and looting
Guru's institution. Hearing this, Makhan Shah reached the camp of Dhir Mall
with his men. On seeing Makhan Shah and his men coming, the gunmen of .
Dhir Mall fled. Makhan Shah got his men to collect the money and material
that Dhir Mall had brought from the Guru's institution and carried it back
to Guru Tegh Bahadur's place. He got Dhir Mall walk bare footed and
presented him before Guru Tegh Bahadur alongwith Shihan Masand with his
hands and feet tied.

Seeing all this, Guru Tegh Bahadur said to Makhan Shah, "Please release
them. Return all the money and material, you have brought from their camp,
back to them. They have done it all in their greed for wealth. The money and
the material which, they thought would give them comfort, has brought
suffering to them. It is proper that that money and material remains with
them." Obeying the command of Guru Tegh Bahadur, Makhan Shah returned
all the things to them except the volume of Guru Granth Sahib, because the
Sikh scriptures belonged to the real Guru of the Sikhs.
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Visit to Amritsar

At the time of leaving Amritsar in 1630 A.D., Guru Hargobind had
entrusted the management of Harmandir Sahib to Sikh caretakers. Guru
Tegh Bahadur was entrusted the responsibility of leading the Sikhs in
1664 A.D. Prithi Chand's grandson Har Ji was looking after maintenance
of Harmandir Sahib in those days. He had written some poems and used
to get these recited in Harmandir Sahib like the true Word. The Sikhs of
Amritsar had gone to Kiratpur and had requested Guru Har Rai to prevent
him from propagating his false verses as the true Word. Guru Har Rai did
not get an opportunity to go to Amritsar to prevent this false propaganda.
To stop this malpractice being carried on at Harmandir Sahib, Guru Tegh
Bahadur reached Amritsar on 22nd November, 1664 A.D.

When Har Ji came to know that Guru Tegh Bahadur was coming
towards Harmandir Sahib, he got the masands to lock the visiting
entrance. On seeing the entrance closed, Guru Tegh Bahadur and the
devotees had a dip in the holy pool and started a recitation on a platform
near Akal Takht. Makhan Shah stood up with the request, "Respected
Guru ! Permit us to punish the masands as we meted out to Dhir Mall."
The Guru said, "Makhan Shah! These people are already dead due to
greed. There is no use to punish the dead. No money is more tainted than
the money offered in worship. In the greed to get the money offered in
worship, they have become devoid of devotion, chastity, virtue and
knowledge, so they cannot be prevented from doing misdeeds."

In the evening, Guru Tegh Bahadur left Amritsar for village Walla. When
the Sikh devotees of Amritsar came -to know that the Guru had come to
Amritsar for a visit to Harmandir Sahib but the masands had locked the
entrance door before-hand, they were greatly pained at the behaviour of
the masands. The Sikhs who were keen for an audience with their Guru,
followed him to village Walla and asked for his forgiveness. Women were
the first to reach. On seeing them, Guru Tegh Bahadur remarked : "Blessed
are the women whose desires have been fulfilled by the Lord and whom
Lord has shown the path of devotion." The devotees of Amritsar were feeling
unfortunate that the Guru himself had come to Amritsar and they could
not render him any service. All the devotees prayed to the Guru, "Please
make the rest of Amritsar devotees happy by going back to Amritsar and
giving audience.” The Guru did not grant their request. After staying for
three days at village Walla and bringing Sikhs in tune with the true Word,
he set out for Tarn Taran.
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Colonisation of Anandpur

Raja Deep Chand, ruler of Kehloor State died on 13th May, 1665 A.D. His
father, Raja Tara Chand was one of the fifty-two rulers, whom Guru Hargobind
had got released from the Gwalior fort where they had been detained by the
King Jahangir of Delhi. From that day the family of Raja Tara Chand greatly
respected the Guru's Institution. The Rani (Queen) of Raja Deep Chand called
Guru Tegh Bahadur through a special messenger at the time of performing
last rites of her husband.

Guru Tegh Bahadur reached Kehloor at the invitation of the queen. After
the last rites had been performed, Guru Tegh Bahadur had a talk with the
queen for buying the village Makhowal. The queen offered the village as a gift
but the Guru refused to take the land without payment. After that Guru Tegh
Bahadur gave five hundred rupees and got the village Makhowal transferred
in his name. '

A notorious decoit with a giantlike body lived in that village, Makhowal,
who did not let anyone else settle near the village. He used to commit robberies
far and wide and afterwards ran to his place at Makhowal where it was difficult
to catch him because there were many gorges in the hills to serve as hideouts.

Guru Tegh Bahadur understood well, what Aurangzeb, the King of Delhi
was planning. He knew how his father, Guru Hargobind had to take up arms
to face tyranny and fight four batiles near Amritsar. Those battles had been
started by the government. The government forces had to face defeat in all
the four battles. The time was not far off when arms would have to be taken
up again. These battles would be bigger than the previous ones. A place like
Makhowal was the most suitable for these impending battles because it was
a natural fort, being in the mountains. On one side was the river Sutlej, on
the other Sirsa river and hills and forests on the remaining sides. Located at
a distance of forty miles from Delhi-Peshawar Trunk Road towards the hills,
it was very suitable for fighting battles. Some defences could be set up by the
time the enemy army reached the place.

After buying the land at village Makhowal, Guru Tegh Bahadur, got the
foundation-stone of the city laid from Baba Gurditta, the grandson of Baba
Budha, on 19th June, 1665 A.D. and named it Chak Nanaki. Guru Tegh
Bahadur himself prepared the map of the city in which the bazars and the
residential quarters of the devotees were planned, keeping in view the
impending wars so that it may not fall to the enemy easily. Four squares, lined
roads and brick lined streets were constructed. The name of the city changed
to Anandpur after (Guru) Gobind Rai came from Patna to stay here.
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Misunderstanding of Sayad Moosa

Guru Tegh Bahadur was getting the construction of Anandpur done
under his own supervision. One day Sayad Moosa,resident of Ropar city
passed by Anandpur. Seeing big and tall buildings being constructed, he
asked a Sikh, "Who is getting these big palace-like houses constructed ?"
The Sikh replied, "Guru Tegh Bahadur, who is leading the Sikhs on the
path of Guru Nanak, is founding a new city." Sayad Moosa said, "Baba
Nanak was a great prophet and a man of deeds. Does Guru Tegh Bahadur
have similar qualities ?" The Sikh replied, "He has the same great power
of Guru Nanak and is an ascetic.”

Sayad Moosa asked in great amazement, "Why is he getting these big
palaces constructed if he is a recluse ? Is he a house-holder or an ascetic ?"
The Sikh replied, "He is a house-holder as Guru Nanak was."” Sayad Moosa
said, "I want to meet him and clear the doubt that how a house-holder
living in the midst of temptations of this world can shun the love for worldly
wealth and be an ascetic." The Sikh took Sayad Moosa to Guru
Tegh Bahadur.

Guru Tegh Bahadur seated Sayad Moosa near him showing great
reverence and said, "Please ask your questions, I shall clear your doubts."
Sayad Moosa asked Guru Tegh Bahadur, "You are a house-holder and
constructing big palaces. If you have no love for worldly belongings, why
are you getting these big houses constructed ?" The Guru said, "Please stay
for the night with us. You may go tomorrow. You will get the answer of
your question by tomorrow."

Sayad Moosa had his meals in the community kitchen in the evening.
The attendant gave him a cot and bedding. He spread the bedding on the
cot in a room and went to sleep. It started raining heavily and the gale
started. The sound of the rain and the wind woke him up. On waking up,
he began to think what his plight would have been if he was out in the
open, in this storm. The things such as the cot, the bedding and the room
were provided by the house-holders. The Guru spent the money collected
from the house-holders for the welfare of all. He has no greed to amass
wealth. He is an ascetic in spite of being house-holder. At the time of
departure in the morning, Sayad Moosa said to Guru Tegh Bahadur, "The
misunderstanding in my mind has been dispelled. 1 have come to know
that these are the house-holders who are the creators of the saints and
hermits and providers of food and comfort to all.
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Victims of Pride

During his tour of Malwa in 1665 A.D., Guru Tegh Bahadur reached
village Hadiaya. He camped outside the village in the shade of a big banyan
tree. Under the shade of the same tree, a man was lying on a cot. He had
a high fever and was suffering from scrofula. The person suffering from
scrofula has ulcer in the throat due to which he is choked and it becomes
difficult for him to breathe. The patient dies in a great agony due
to suffocation.

The Guru asked him, "Why don't you go to your house and rest ? You
are lying here alone on the cot. Nobody even looks after you.” He replied,
"This disease is ragging in the village. The people are suffering badly. Many
have even died of this disease in the village. I don't want the people at home
to get this disease from me. So I am lying outside the village on this cot,
under the shade of this tree. My people give me food and water here. O'
man of God ! Be kind to me. Save me from this disease.”

The Guru said, "In their pride of high caste, the people of your village
have tortured someone poor and innocent,due to which all of you have been
afflicted by this disease. There is only one cure for it. The patient who
bathes in this pond of the leatherworkers will be healed.” Obeying the
command of the Guru, that man took a dip in the pond of the
leatherworkers by which his fever was gone and the affliction in his throat
was cured. He went to his house and narrated how he had been cured by
bathing in the pond.

All the people of the village came to know of his cure. The patients of
the village began bathing in that pond of the leatherworkers without any
pride or hate and were healed. Having got rid of the affliction, all the people
of the village came to the Guru and offered obeisance. The Guru said to
them, "There is one Lord who is the father of all the rich and the poor,
those of high and the low caste. So it is not right for the high caste to hate
the untouchables. All those who earn their livelihood by honest labour are
equal. One who hates others inflicts suffering on himself in the way you
were suffering due to hate." The people of the village resolved that they
would not hate the untouchables in future. The villagers converted that
pond in a pool naming it "Gurusar” and constructed an inn near the pool
for the travellers' comfort.

31



Prohibition from Smoking
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Prohibition from Smoking

During his tour of Malwa, Guru Tegh Bahadur reached village Barna
from Kaithal. He inquired of a man outside the village, "Brother, does any
Sikh of Guru Nanak live in this village ?" He replied, "There is one farmer
who is Guru Nanak's Sikh.” The Guru said to him, "Please go and tell him
that your Guru is outside the village and calls you." That man went and
brought the farmer to the Guru.

That Sikh came, touched the feet of the Guru in reverence and
requested, "Please honour me by going to my house and make yourself
comfortable there. I shall be back in a short time after getting my fields
measured by these men. They are to measure my fields to calculate land
revenue payable by me."” Taking leave of the Guru, the farmer went to his
fields with the waiting men. The fields were measured and the measure-
ment came to half of what it used to be in the previous years. This resulted
in the land revenue coming to half. Seeing his taxes coming to half, his
belief in the Guru was complete because by the honour of seeing the Guru,
his land revenue was reduced to half.

That Sikh, served the Guru with great devotion on his return from the
fields. The Guru said to him, "My dear Sikh give up the use of tobacco.
Do not even touch it. If you bring it in the house, not only disease but
poverty also will harass you."

In those days smoking was increasing not only among the rich but also
among the poor because tobacco was cheap. Tobacco does not act like
other intoxicants such as hump, cannabis or alcohol which have a sudden
benumbing effect on the mind and which were forbidden by all religions
at that time but not tobacco. However it effects the body and mind as badly
as the other intoxicants do. No other religion except the Sikh faith has
prohibited the use of tobacco. All except the Sikhs adopted it. Its demand

was increasing day by day. To meet the demand, people had started
its cultivation.

Guru Tegh Bahadur had not only prohibited his Sikh from smoking but
had also asked him not to touch it, because if the use of tobacco could
bring disease and poverty to a Sikh, how could the Guru, who wished

welfare of everybody, allow his Sikh to produce tobacco in his fields for
others.
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Happening at Thanesar

Prohibiting people from the use of tobacco at village Barna and showing
the right path to those gone astray, Guru Tegh Bahadur reached Thanesar.
There he camped on the bank of river Saraswati. Setting everything he got
the musicians to start singing of hymns and asked the Sikhs to prepare
food and serve it to those coming for an audience. It was the day of solar
eclipse. There was a great rush of people on the river bank. They wanted

to wash away the effects of their sins committed in the past by bathing
in the river.

Even after the start of the solar eclipse, the musicians continued
reciting hymns and the meals in the community kitchen remained being
cooked and served without any break. The needy went on taking meals.
Neither the Guru nor the Sikhs paid any attention to the eclipse. The Guru
or the Sikhs did not go to the river to bathe specially during the eclipse.
Seeing Sikhs taking meals, some Brahmins came to Guru Tegh Bahadur
and said, "The solar eclipse is on. Please go and bathe in the river at this
auspicious occasion to wash the eflects of your sins committed in the past.
Also ask your disciples to become pure by bathing and washing their sins."

Guru Tegh Bahadur said to the Brahmins, "It is not true to say that
the curse of the sins ends by bathing in this river. The misdeeds done
cannot be washed by bathing in this water. You may wash a bitter melon
with water as many times as you like from outside but the inner bitterness
like poison remains in it. In the same way the curse of bad deeds remains
with you even after bathing in the river. The result of bathing in this river
can be bad instead of being good when the person bathing may start
thinking that the sins committed by him upto now have been washed away
and he will again bathe next year and get rid of the misdeeds done this
year. Thinking this way he may do still more wrong. Thieves and sinners
do not benefit from just bathing in this river unless they resolve not to steal
and sin. Ascetics and saints are always pure as they do not do misdeeds,
so there is no need for them to bathe in this river."

The Brahmins asked. "How then can the curse of the sins be washed ?"
The Guru replied, "It is the name of the Lord that can save one from the
wages of sin. By obeying the commands of the Lord the curse of the sins
of the past is destroyed and there are no ill effects of the future deeds."

After getting this reply from the Guru, the Brahmins went the way they
had come from.
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Meeting with Aurangzeb

Aurangzeb, the King of Delhi had witnessed the miracles performed by
Ram Rai and Guru Har Krishan. He sent Alam Khan Ruhela to bring Guru
Tegh Bahadur to Delhi to show him some miracles. At that time Guru Tegh
Bahadur was on tour of Malwa region and was at village Dhamtan, when
Alam Khan Ruhela reached with Aurangzeb's message on 1lst Novem-
ber, 1665 A.D. The Guru accompanied him to Delhi,holding congregations
on the way as before and setting people on the path of truth.

Ram Singh, the son of Raja Mirza Jai Singh, made arrangements for
Guru Tegh Bahadur's stay in his palace during his sojourn at Delhi. The
Guru went to the court of Aurangzeb on his invitation where he was seated
on a sandalwood seat with great reverence. After Aurangzeb asked him to
show some miracle, the Guru replied, "To show a miracle is to claim parity
with God. God has given you the sovereignty of India. It becomes of you
to consider all religions as equal. Rule with justice, humility and kindness.
The subjects are like cows and goats. The more you nourish them the more
milk will they yield. The King who harasses his subjects,destroys himself.
There is no place in the house of God for those who indulge in oppression
and tyranny."

On hearing the reply of the Guru, Aurangzeb said, "I wish that only one
faith—Islam, may prevail in India so that conflicts on account of religion
may end. If you embrace Islam, I shall give you a large estate and make
you the supreme religious head of the country.” The Guru replied, “The
riches of the world are of no use to me. Iron and gold are of the same value
to me. What would I do with the relgious leadership ? These conflicts are
not created by religions but are the outcome of jealousy. Religion is only
a way to reach the Lord. In my opinion, every living being has a right to
reach Him according to his own belief because faith is the privilege of every
individual. It relates more to the soul than to the body. If God does not
like Hindus, he would stop blessing them with children.”

After exchange of views in this way, Aurangzeb was satisfied that Guru
Tegh Bahadur was a holy man in tune with the Infinite. He has no love
for the worldly wealth. He passed orders, "The Guru can go wherever he
likes. There is no restriction on his preaching."
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Greatness in the Householder

After meeting Aurangzeb, Guru Tegh Bahadur started the tour of
eastern provinces. From Delhi, imparting the knowledge of truth to the
people of the villages on the way the Guru reached Agra, where he gave
audience to Mai Bhago.

Mai Bhago was an old woman and she had a great desire since a long
time to behold the Guru. Everyday, visualising the Guru in her mind, she
used to pray, "O true King! Fulfil my desire by accepting the robe made
from the cloth spun with my own hands.” Mai Bhago was over-joyed to
see the Guru standing at her door. In spite of her old frail body, she served
the Guru with her own hands with great care. The Guru stayed with her
for a month and two days. The place of Mai Bhago, where the Guru had
stayed is now known as 'Mai Thaan'.

The Guru was still at Agra when one day a woman came in the morning
congregation and requested the Guru, "My husband is becoming an ascetic
and is leaving me and three children. Please be kind to us, call him to you
and persuade him not to leave us like this. If he leaves us, our children
will become beggars and will be pushed around from place to place.”
Acceding to her request, the Guru called her husband. Reaching the
congregation, her husband bowed before the Guru with great reverence.

The Guru asked him, "Your wife says that you are renouncing this
world. Is it true ?" He replied, "What my wife says is true. I want to attain
God. The ascetics say that it is most essential to renounce wealth to find
the Lord. As long as my wife and children stay with me, the attachment
for wealth will persist. I won't be able to attain oneness with God."

The Guru said, "Brother ! Who will take care of these children when you
leave them ? Your hunger will remain with you even if you renounce this
world. To satisfy the hunger you will knock at the doors of the householders
and beg for your food. The attachment will remain with you. The way to
find God is not to leave your home and hearth but to realise and obey His
commands to find Him. Fulfil the needs of the needy. Do not give up wealth
but renounce greed for it. You will behold the Lord always in this way while
living as a householder.” He understood the teaching of the Guru and gave

up the thought of renunciation. The family became devotees of the Guru's
institution.

43






HSH €H €7 gaH

3d 331 9I'Td H Mad I 9% I, flst »3 wfge™ feg s sarge
I8, T7aYd I »fdl a3 Heaud U+ | fen gt fea 298 Aot v@a T afder
A A 8R § g9 7t € Une T u3T ¥ar 3t Q9 3T uyn dfenr faQfa G
3 gig it € Hfowr €9 Fer3T U 53 At I At G0 v g A @ 39
AT & TInst € fanrdt It aq foor wt, 79 gig w1 € TweHs AT A TUR T
9 Bat Gn § T fa €7 € &5 g Avggudt fAy wfswt Gug »mea
Ft s, fagt € wfawt ohat fist &% figar 43 I8 a5 1 B9 I fa=’ €9
AA39uTdt fAy A3 feu faad a9 & fHaar w9 & fere g5 1 HBT R/ &
Ao feogfer T QRA g M TS eams aos o fegga s fesm 1 R &
Afenr fa G0 S I w3 Fg € iy WA & wrarg Fae 951 G0 Fl=-w3a
"3 fageel 951 R = a7 At U 7T 31g &dt fAr € fiy fer 33+ @ 95|

HZI TH € 'Y € Y& T AN 3 '3 GreT IR8 Iv& OrT saT et
fanier farnr | fae fa @ 99 39 a9 A, @R & 995 &ad" M ¥ &
AIad q9& € yaasT ai3t, sradr § 991 sarge set we e gt gud
JuzT gfanr 3t @R § we feg W firnr sm9 nrferm | QT w37 J9vs Sfenr
fa @n € I¥> 7 feu wr T w famr ? g3~ Age fU's 89 § ms uet
fa feg d3a 3t ATet-AE g & Ifen Jferr J1 W M3 Aar fes »igg
H3 H& & iy U JtgT Ifem 31 a7a9 et R w3 A'aT 59789 95 | fegt
<at § Uer q95 % Q9 »ruy & 31 fegt @ miog a9s % <t @ mu
Jifes ¥ =0 vA w3 Aa1 € gou' feg fa@ en 7 ¥ 77 & @n wet-we
g € TIRS T

Hl AS9, HBd ©H JIg A1 © TIRsT BEl @&t um un famr i aig F 8
n & 93 Afsag 578 WuE uw g5 o Ufenr, “Hga eW, 39 Hs fes
et 99 e I 37 Qo ! »iF vo a9 317 @A & €39 FI, “IAt 1 W
¥ A" I9H €I I3 &3 0= | fgur 99 d W3 mAEs '3 98 m3 HE AT 95
e Har 9 |”

g Al & HBF TH € §531 y='s a9 Bt @u vy g 7 § 39 I MuE
m’a@aﬁmm@nszzwaaaam:ﬂﬁa‘ﬁ&faw ““AH
W UgsY s'a9d § Ia1 Zar faor o7, uﬁws*#w@@nati‘aaemx
@ Fa1 sarQT wr fagr WH1 vy faur w, gz»‘rzgm—gwwe’t
g &7d WET J| Wy @ ¥IHsT & HIT WEH HEST a9 fear 317

45



Illusion of Malook Dass

Moving from Agra, Guru Tegh Bahadur reached Kara Manakpur beyond
Kanpur, holding congregations in villages and cities on the way. A
vegetarian Yogi, Malook Dass lived at this place. He was very pleased when
he came to know about the Guru's arrival because he had heard his praise
from other devotees. He was gettling himself ready to go to the Guru's camp
for an audience when some people returning after visiting Guru Ji,told him,
"Some armed Sikhs are accompanying him on horse backs, with deer tied
to the back of their horses. It appears as if those armed Sikhs have hunted
the deer on their way.” When Malook Dass heard this. he gave up the idea
of going to the Guru for an audience. He thought, I am vegetarian and the
Guru's Sikhs eat meat. They are killers of animals and are cruel. It is not
proper for me to go to the Guru whose Sikhs are of this type."

At the time of his evening meal, his vegetarian food was brought to him.
As usual he placed the food before the deity and prayed for its acceptance.
When he removed the cloth covering the plate to offer it to the idol, he saw
meat in the food. He was greatly surprised and wondered where from the
meat had come in this vegetarian food. After thinking a lot, he realised,
“This miracle has been shown by the all knowing Guru to teach me. The
difference between meat and vegetables is created by my mind itself. Meat
and vegetables are the same for the deity. He Himself, is the creator of both.
He Himself, partakes of both. Then why should I entangle myself in the
fallacies about meat and vegetables ? I shall go and have an audience with
the Guru who knows everything."

The next morning, Malook Dass went to the Guru for an audience. Guru
Tegh Bahadur called him by his side wjth great respect and asked, "Malook
Dass ! Is there any other apprehension in your mind ? Get it cleared today."
He replied, "You have dispelled all the doubts of my mind. Please come
to my place and give me a chance to serve you."

The Guru accepted the request of Malook Dass. He himself, escorted
the Guru from his camp to his hermitage. He prepared meals and placing
food before the Guru said, "I am offering food to a living God today. Prior
to it, I have been offering meals only to stone idols all my life. With your
kindness, idol-worship now seems to me a child's play. With your
blessings, I have achieved the goal of my life.”
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The Guru in Banaras

After dispelling the doubt of Malook Dass, Guru Tegh Bahadur reached
Banaras via Allahabad. There Bhai Jwehri Mall had been preaching Guru
Nanak's teachings for a long time. One early morning, seeing underwear
and other clothes in his hand, the Guru asked him, "Brother! Where are
you going ?" He replied, "O my true King! I am going to bathe in the river
Ganges." The Guru said, "Society of the holymen is the place of pilgrimage
for the Sikhs, not the river Ganges. They do not go to the Ganges, the
Ganges flows to them. The Ganges has come to you at the place you are
now standing. You may lift the stones and see it for yourself.” When Bhai
Jwehri Mall removed the stones, clear water like that of the river Ganges
began flowing, which flows even to this day.

When the people of Banaras heard of the Ganges coming to the Sikh,
they started coming for an audience with the Guru from far and near. One
day at the time of the morning recital, a leper crawled to the congregation.
He prayed to the Guru, "Please rid me of this disease. I am suffering a
lot due to this disease.” The Guru asked the musicians to recite the
following hymn :

The name of the Lord is the etermal source of comfort.

Reciting of which by devotion caused deliverance of Aja

Mall and Gantka attained realization. (Raag Maru M. 1, p.1008)

At the conclusion of the hymn, the pain of the leper was gone. The Guru
said to him, "Listening to the praise of the Lord has cured you of the pain.
Had you remembered earlier, you would not have got this disease and
suffered. God Himself, has preserved the honour of those who have kept
Him in their minds.” By listening to the holy Word, the leper was cured
in a few days and went back to his place singing the praises of the Guru.

The Guru was staying at Banaras, when, one day, some Pandits came
and asked, "Why does a man run after bad deeds in spite of his wisdom ?"
The Guru replied, "If the man is guided by his mind, then his wisdom is
of no avail because mind is surrounded by the five thieves—lust, anger,
greed, attachment and ego. Only the Name of God can save one from
these thieves."

The Pandits said, "We read daily what is written in the scriptures.” He
told them, "In faith it is your deed that is important,not your readings.
Reading the scriptures, understanding them and moulding your life
accordingly is the real faith." Getting many doubts cleared, the Pandits
returned happily.
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Courtesy of Bhai Phaggu

Leaving Banaras, Guru Tegh Bahadur reached Sasram city where
Phaggu, a devotee of the Guru's institution lived. While constructing his
new house, he kept a very wide front door and a large courtyard. The
people seeing the wide door and large courtyard asked him the reason for
it. He replied, "When the Guru comes to my house, he may not have to
dismount from his horse but enter straight into the courtyard. This large
courtyard is to accommodate the devotees who will come for his audience.”
Someone hearing this said, "Your Guru is far away in Punjab. How can
he come to this city ?" Phaggu replied, "He knows everything. He can read

the feelings in my heart. He is sure to honour me by setting his feet in
my house."

The day came when the Guru entered the courtyard of his house, riding,
to fulfil the desire of his Sikh. Phaggu was overjoyed to see the Guru.
Phaggu spread a bed and requested the Guru to adorn it. Devotees began
to gather in the large courtyard for an audience. Phaggu offered the tithe
and other presents brought by the devotees and paid obeisance. The Guru
asked Phaggu, "Has anything brought by a Sikh been left out ?"

Phaggu was taken aback at this question of the Guru. He had always
sent the collectjons from the Sikhs to the Guru and the money and material
collected afterwards was being offered now. When Phaggu did not reply,
the Guru asked him, "Bhai, where from has this ber tree laden with fruits
standing in front of your door come ?"

Phaggu recollected the fact after the Guru had told him. He said,
"Respected Guru, once [ went to the house of a Sikh to collect tithe. That
Sikh had nothing in his house to offer. His wife said, ‘Bhai, please come
again sometime. You will get whatever we may afford.' I said, 'I won't go
empty-handed.’ She said, 'I have only got this rubbish. You may take this.’
I said, Please put it in my bag.' She put the rubbish in my bag. I brought
it to my house and washed it. I found a stone of ber in it which I planted.
It is my fault that I did not sent the fruit of this tree to you."

The Guru said, "Phaggu. you have adopted Sikh thought completely.
I am very pleased with you. You did not mind the shortcoming of a Sikh.

It is Sikhs like you who are nourshing Sikhism from a seed to a big tree
with their devotion."
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Selfish Brahmins at Gaya

Having fulfilled the wish of Phaggu, Guru Tegh Bahadur reached the
city of Gaya. He set his camp at Bahmini Ghat on the bank of river Phalgu.
The Brahmins of Gaya came to the Guru with the sacred thread and
requested him to wear that. The Guru urged them to shun the cotton
thread and get stringed in the thread of the True Name by which the pangs
of birth and death come to an end and union with God is attained.

When the Brahmins saw that the Guru was not convinced to wear the
cotton thread, they requested him to perform the 'Pind'. Filling 'Pind’ is an
old rite prevalent in Hindus in which balls of barley flour are made and
after ritual and incantation by the Brahmins are thrown in the Phalgu river
where those are eaten by creatures living in water. The person performing
'Pind’ believes that the balls thrown by him, have reached his ancestors
in the next world as told by the Brahmins.

The Guru said to them, "My ancestors are already in the Sach Khand
(the place of the Lord) and they do not need these balls of flour. It is not
right to call them like evil spirits when they are one with the Lord. It is
your belief that the ancestors of those who set feet in this river attain
salvation. Why do you ask us to perform Pind ?" They said, "What you say
is true. If we don't adopt these tricks, we won't be able to earn our living
and bring up our children.” The Guru came to the conclusion that these
Brahmins had no interest in the welfare of the people. They only wanted
money. The Guru gave them money and said, "I am giving this money out
of pity on your condition. Do not consider it as an offering on account of
charity or virtuous deeds."” The Brahmins were pleased on getting money.

On his way from Gaya to Patna, the Guru began to cross the river Karam
Nash. Brahmins sitting on the banks of that river came to the Guru and
said, "You should bathe in this river as the effects of misdeeds of the one
who bathes in this river come to an end." The Guru said, "A dip in this
river has no effect, what-so-ever towards the destruction of the effects of
previous misdeeds. The eflects of misdeeds are destroyed in the company
of the holymen where praises of the Lord are sung. From now onwards this
river will be called by the name Kukaram Nash (destroyer of misdeeds)
instead of Karam Nash (destroyer of deeds). By the word of the Guru that
river is known as Kukaram Nash since that day.
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Bhai Jagta of Patna

Guru Tegh Bahadur reached Patna in May 1666 A.D. He camped in a
garden which had withered due to some unknown reason. With the benign
presence of the Guru, the withered garden became lush green. When
Rahim Bakhsh, the Nawab of Patna heard of the revival of the garden, he
himself came to see the Guru. The Guru asked him, "Whose garden is
this ?" He replied. "It is yours.” From that day that garden is known as
'Guru Ka Bagh' (the garden of the Guru). A Sikh, Bhai Jagta came for an
audience with the Guru in that garden. He requested the Guru and took
him to his house. The house of Bhai Jagta, where the Guru set foot is now
known as 'Gaow Ghat.’

Bhai Jagta ran a sweet shop in the city. He used to get up early in the
morning and after taking shower and recitation of Gurbani (teaching of
Gurus), put on his overall to prepare the sweets for his shop. His overall
always looked greasy. People thought that he never took shower and never
washed the overall. Any needy who came to his sweet shop was served with
heart and soul and his need was fulfilled.

As usual, devotees used to assemble in the house of Bhai Jagta for an
audience with the Guru. One day someone said to the Guru, "You are
staying in the house of this man who never takes bath and never attends
any congregation.” The Guru said, "You are not aware of the reality of this
man. He neither takes bath nor does he attend the company of holy men,
perform worship or recitals just to show off. Whosoever has any doubt
about his daily routine may stay for a night with him and dispel his doubts.
He recites the Name of the Lord daily. He takes bath and serves the poor
out of his earnings by honest labour. Bhai Jagta is not a hypocratic Sikh.
He is a perfect Sikh.” The Guru dispelled the doubt of everybody.

As the number of devotees increased, the Guru took abode in the
bungalow of Vaisakhi Ram where one day some Yogis came for a discussion
with him. Their leader was a big landlord. He was very proud of being rich.
The Guru said to him, "Before anyone starts calling oneself a 'Yogi', it is
essential to know that who is called a 'Yogi'. He is not a 'Yogi' whose deeds
are those of animals. Always entangled in lust for wealth and who indulges
in discrimination of rich and poor. 'Yogi' is one who may tolerate criticism
and not be proud of his praise. Gold and steel both are same to him and
his mind does not waver in adversity.” Hearing these qualities of a 'Yogi'
from the Guru, they were ashamed and went back.
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Religious duty of the Kshatri

In March 1667 A.D., Guru Tegh Bahadur arrived at Dhaka from Patna.
Bhai Natha was looking after one of the twenty-two preaching centres set
up by Guru Amar Dass. He was very pleased to see the Guru. At his
motivation devotees began to flock everyday from far and near. The mother
of Blaki Dass who was at service of the centre before Bhai Natha, was one
of those devotees who came to visit the Guru everyday. One day she
requested the Guru, "I want that I may get your portrait drawn before you
leave this place.” The Guru granted her permission. A famous artist of
Dhaka started to prepare the picture. He was able to draw all the other
part of the Guru's body but when he came to draw the face, his brushes
stopped moving. He could not trace his face. The Guru took the brush from
the painter and drew his face himself. That picture is still kept in the
Victoria Museum of Calcutta.

The Guru was still at Dhaka when Raja Ram Singh, sent by Aurangzeb
to conquer Assam, reached there. In those days magic and witch-craft was
very much in vogue in Assam. Everyone was afraid of going to Assam. Raja
Ram Singh had great faith in the Guru's institution. He requested the Guru
to accompany him on his campaign of Assam so that sorcery and witch-
craft may have no effect on him. The Guru encouraged him and said, "You
need not fear. I shall go with you.” When they arrived near the river
Brahamputra, the Guru got a raised platform made by the soldiers near
the bank and set his camp on it. Now there stands Gurdwara Damdama
Sahib. The Guru saw that the water of Brahamputra was rising. He told
the army of Raja Ram Singh to pitch their tents at a higher place, away
from the river. On the other bank of the river, the army of Raja
Chakkardhawaj had set up their camps. The water of the river rose at night
but caused no damage to the forces of Raja Ram Singh.

An informer of Raja Chakkardhawaj reported him, "The rise of water
in the river caused no damage to the forces of Raja Ram Singh as Guru
Tegh Bahadur, the ninth descendant of Guru Nanak, is accompanying
him." Hearing this, Raja Chakkardhawaj came to the Guru. The Guru told
those Rajas, "You both are Kshatris. It is a religious duty of a Kshatri to
fight for faith and not to kill brothers or shed the blood of the poor." The
teaching of the Guru had such an effect on them that they became friends.
Agreement on the demarcation of borders was reached. After that the Guru
returned to Anandpur in October 1670 A.D. via Patna.
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The Way to Peace

One day Guru Tegh Bahadur noticed the presence of Narain Dass in
the morning congregation after many days. The Guru asked him, "You have
come in the congregation after a long time. What is the reason for it ?" He
replied, "Respected Guru! I was busy at home. All the responsibility of
running the family rests on me. My two sons are young enough to do
farming but they are happy to remain idle. On the other side, they are
ahead of everyone at the time of meals. My wife died two years ago with
whom I could share my troubles. Now I am alone. To make both ends meet,
I also work in the market. My savings are dwindling. The worry is telling
upon me. 1 cannot sleep due to worries but my sons sleep very soundly."

The Guru told him, "Nobody can either take away the happiness of other
nor give peace to anyone. When one starts thinking wrongly, the mind
becomes restless and loses sleep. Caught in love for your children, you
have started to think wrongly. You have done your duty. Let your children
take care of themselves. Take up the service of the common men to attain
peace because service destroys ego. Do not take untruth for truth. Every-
one you see will perish one day. Wealth, material and children will be left
behind one day. Do not think true to be untrue. You have to go one day."
Acting upon the advice of the Guru, he entrusted the responsibility of the

family to his sons and started living in the Guru's institution for the service
of humanity.

One day the Guru was walking on the bank of the river Sutlej, when
a Brahmin came and said, "I have been performing worship and recitals
since long. I have not attained peace.” The Guru said, "Worship and reading
of scriptures are the outside deeds. If you do not think over what you recite,
it does not stay in your mind. When the mind is engrossed in the illusion
of worship and recitals, it considers understanding of the scriptures
useless. Worship is the first step to realise the Truth while reading
scriptures is the second. If you do not want to go beyond these two steps,
how can you realise the Truth or attain peace. Start thinking over what
you read and take the third step towards realising the Truth. Contempla-
tion takes you to understand yourself and the illusions of this world. Mould
your life according to the teachings of the scriptures to attain peace and
realisation of the Lord.” The Brahmin said, "This is very difficult. I shall
not be able to mould my life according to the teachings.”
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Request of Kashmir's Pandits

Aurangzeb ascended the throne of Delhi on 31st July, 1658 A.D. after
getting his brothers killed and imprisoning his father. Then he sent
presents to the sacred Mecca which were sent back by the Islamic heads
of Mecca and defamed him in the Islamic World. To wipe away his
dishonour, he declared, "The administration of the country will be run
according to Islamic law.” He himself was a Sunni Muslim. For him even
Shi'ahs were infidels. He had a belief that "The holy Koran permits the
use of force to convert infidels to Islam".

In March 1659 A.D., Aurangzeb banned the construction of new
temples. The repair of the old temples was prohibited in 1664 A.D. In
April 1665 A.D., he passed an order that Octroi from the Muslims be
charged at two and a half percent and from Hindus at five percent. After
some time Muslims were exempted from Octroi. To put an end to the
religious rituals and education of Hindus, he issued a proclamation for the
demolition of temples and Hindu schools in 1669 A.D. Temples at Mathura,
Ayodhya, Banaras etc. were razed and mosques were erected in their
places. A tax on Hindus was imposed in 1669 A.D. for being Hindus.
Hindus were made to pay tax for going to Hindu fairs. Hindus began to
be eased out of government jobs. Poor Hindus started embracing Islam due
to the financial hardships.

In 1674 A.D., Aurangzeb started from Kashmir to bring India under one
religion as the majority of Kashmiri's were Brahmins. Aurangzeb thought,
“Brahmins are cowards and greedy. It will be easy to convert them by
intimidation or tempting them with jobs or estates. When the leaders of
the Hindus are converted to Islam the others will follow suit.” On his order,
hundreds of Brahmins were arrested and tortured. Many of them could
not bear the beating and became Muslims.

Prominent Pandits of Kashmir led by Kirpa Ram before bowing to the
sword of the Governor Sher Khan, came to Anandpur on 25th May,
1675 A.D. and complained to the Guru. The Guru knew that weak and
frightened cannot become brave by mere listening to episodes of bravery.
To dispel their fear, to make them brave and fearless, great leadership is
required. The Guru presented himself for that leadership which was
endorsed by Prince Gobind Rai who was only eight years at that time. The
Guru told the Pandits, "Go and tell the governor that Guru Tegh Bahadur
is our religious leader. If you convert him to Islam, all of us will follow him
and become Muslims."
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Torturing of Sikhs

After seeing off Kashmir's Pandits, Guru Tegh Bahadur entrusted the
responsibility of leading the Sikhs to Guru Gobind Rai on 8th July,
1675 A.D. On 11th July, he took five Sikhs—Chief Minister Bhai Mati
Dass, Domestic Affairs Minister Bhai Dayala, Public Affairs Minister Bhai
Sati Dass, the interpreter of Sikh Tradition Bhai Gurditta and Bhai Udha
with him and proceeded to Delhi.

Aurangzeb was busy in Hassan Abdal in quelling the mutiny of the
Pathans since 26th June, 1674 A.D. The Guru's message was conveyed
to him there. He issued orders for the arrest of the Guru. The Guru was
arrested along with the five Sikhs at Agra, brought to Delhi and was
imprisoned in a solitary house. The second order of Aurangzeb was
received, "The Guru be forced to embrace Islam and if he does not agree,
he should be murdered after torture. His body be cut in pieces and be hung
on all sides of the city."

After the receipt of the second order, his officials asked the Guru to
embrace Islam. The Guru refused. They started torturing and murdering’
the Sikhs arrested with him. They thought that the Guru will embrace
Islam out of fear when the Sikhs are tortured to death before his eyes. By
the order of the gazis. Bhai Mati Dass was tied between two planks and
sawn like wood in two pieces. On the second day, Bhai Dayala was made
to sit in a pot of boiling water. On the third day, Bhai Sati Dass was

wrapped in cotton and set on fire. The Sikhs were martyred by torture
before the Guru.

The Guru saw, "The murderers did not feel a sense of shame after
martyrdom of three Sikhs. Even the martyrdom of Bhai Udha and Bhai
Gurditta will not change their hearts. The conscience of these tyrants is
dead. He thought it right to send the two Sikhs alive from the jail so that
they may go out and narrate the true accounts of the incidents to motivate
the people to rise and fight the tyranny of this government."” With the help
of the jail warden, Khwaja Abdul. the Sikhs broke the wall of the prison
and escaped in the darkness of the night.

The officials were frightened at the jail break by the Sikhs. They thought
that the Guru too might escape. They shut up the Guru in a steel cage
in which he could neither stand upright nor sit down. Sharp steel spikes
were fixed inside the cage on all sides. The officials had forgotton that the
Guru had come to those murderers himself to defend the freedom of all
faiths. How could he escape from the prison in the darkness of night ?
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The Guru's Martyrdom

Three Sikhs were martyred in front of Guru Tegh Bahadur but he
remained firm in his belief. According to the order of Aurangzeb, the qazi
tempted him with the offer of a big estate. The Guru said, "I have no desire
for worldly material. My path is the dearest to me.”

After the refusal of the Guru, the gqazi asked him to show a miracle.
The Guru refused saying, "I do not want to be a rival of God by showing
a miracle." Getting a negative reply the qazi said, "Then be prepared to die.”
The Guru said, "I agree to this.” The qazi pronounced an order for the
murder of the Guru. He got it announced with the beat of drum throughout
the city so that the people might see the Guru's killing and embrace Islam
under the fear complex.

The Guru was taken out of the steel cage on the evening of 11th
November, 1675 A.D. After he had taken a bath, the Guru was seated on
a newly erected platform. Thousands of people came to see the martyrdom.
The qazi asked the Guru to embrace Islam. The Guru refused. On the order
of the qazi, the royal executioner Sayyad Jallal-u-din severed Guru's head
with his sword. Immediately after the martyrdom, there was a hurricane.
There was confusion and shrieking on all sides. All the onlookers started
running to their homes. The guards hid themselves in the police station.

In accordance with his plan, Bhai Jaita was standing near the platform
in the garb of a sweeper. In a quick move, he put the Guru's head in a
basket and covered it with a cloth. Bhai Nanu and Bhai Adda joined him
later. All of them proceeded towards Anandpur with the head. Halting at
five places on the way, they reached Kiratpur. Taking Sikhs alongwith them

from Kiratpur they went to Guru Gobind Rai at Anandpur where the head
was cremated.

Bhai Lakhi Shah, a contractor, after delivering supplies in the Red Fort
moved his carts towards Chandni Chowk in order to collect the body. Due
to the movement of the carts, the dust increased and the soldiers on guard
turned their faces away. Bhai Gurditta was accompanying the carts. He
placed the Guru's body in the cart and hid it. Reaching the house of Bhai

Lakhi Shah at Rakab Ganj, they prepared the pyre of the whole house and
cremated the body.

After the head and body of Guru Tegh Bahadur had been taken away
in spite of strict security, Aurangzeb realised that one religion (Islam) can
not be enforced into India with the help of the sword He gave up the idea
of a single religion (Islam) in India.
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